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Introduction

When your cause and commitment is focussed on ending poverty and injustice and on enabling 

every person’s potential to be fulfilled, a year can seem somewhat insignificant in the lifelong effort 

to realise this vision. And yet, in this last year alone, this movement called All We Can has had a 

positive and transformative impact on more than 1.3million people around the world.

Our work was often referred to in the past as a collection of small miracles. But the very nature of 

a miracle is not small. It is all consuming, life altering, hope infusing, dream realising, and holistically 

enabling to the people who experience it. We are in the business of transformation, and having 

seen that work first-hand around the world, the impact and change in so many places is nothing 

short of miraculous. 

There are also setbacks. Natural disasters, economic and social dysfunction, conflict and corruption 

and the raw and unmistakeable effects of climate change, are menacing threats to the development 

gains that are made. But these growing threats also drive us to work harder, innovate, ideate and 

advocate. All the time, we continue to be driven by the strategy and solutions of local people 

who know their local situations best, and to do all we can to support and build capacity and walk 

together in honest and respectful partnership.

In this penultimate year of our five-year strategy, we have continued to progress and grow the 

impact and support we give, whilst retaining a firm commitment to good stewardship of the 

resources we are entrusted with. We cherish collaboration and constantly look for ways to work 

together with others to achieve all that we have aimed to achieve in this current strategic period. 

Our success, in this year and over the whole five-year period, is ultimately about both people 

and planet. We can only claim success if there has been improvement in the lives of individuals, 

communities, the environment and the partner organisations that we exist to serve and if 

individuals, communities, physical environments and professional expertise have all experienced 

positive transformation and realised more of their innate, God-given potential.

We do what we do because it matters, and it is worth doing. We do all we can, each one of us 

playing our part, to see a world restored and transformed and a more just and fairer world for 

everyone. 

Thank you for being part of the All We Can movement and for all that has been accomplished, 

together, in this last year.

 

Graeme Hodge
Chief Executive
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Vision and Values

OUR VISION
Every person’s potential fulfilled

WHAT WE DO
To achieve our mission objectives, we:

 Î support and strengthen local partners – organisations, churches, emerging initiatives and 
inspiring individuals who share our vision and values – to implement effective and sustainable 
solutions with some of the world’s poorest and least-served communities

 Î respond to humanitarian crises with emergency relief and help communities to be better 
prepared for disasters

 Î engage in global education to inform, challenge, motivate and equip people to take a stance 
against poverty and injustice.

OUR MISSION
All We Can helps find solutions to poverty by engaging with local people and organisations in 
some of the world’s poorest communities to end the suffering caused by inequality and injustice.

WHO WE ARE
All We Can is an international development and emergency relief organisation that supports 
local people in some of the world’s poorest communities to find effective solutions to poverty 
and injustice. Focusing on those in greatest need, it has always been inspired by Christian 
principles and is an integral part of the Methodist family.

OUR VALUES
All We Can is motivated by Christian principles and is an integral part of the Methodist family. 
In summary, our guiding values are:

Respect. We respect the inherent worth, dignity and equality of every human being. We want 
everyone to be able to develop their potential, live with respect and have the opportunity to 
flourish. We value different cultures, beliefs and perspectives, and seek to listen and learn from 
others.

Justice. We want everyone to be treated fairly and with equity, and for there to be a just 
sharing of the world’s resources and opportunities. We seek to be prophetic and courageous in 
challenging injustice and inequality, and to be sustainable in how we operate.

Solidarity. We stand and suffer alongside people living in poor communities around the world, 
and all those striving to tackle poverty, inequality and injustice. We seek to be alongside rather 
than in control, and relational rather than contractual in our approach.

Inclusion. We give priority to those who are the poorest, most marginalised and disadvantaged. 
We want to help people to become all that they can and participate meaningfully in shaping 
their own lives and futures. We work with people in need without discrimination.

Service. We seek to serve others. We want to give practical expression to the love, care and 
responsibility we have to each other as human beings, and strive to be humble and accountable 
in the way we work.

Collaboration. We recognise that we do not have all the answers, resources or skills necessary 
to achieve our purpose. We seek to work together in a spirit of partnership with others – 
individuals, organisations, churches, and people of all faiths and none – to make a meaningful 
difference.
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Message from the Chair of Trustees 

Dear Friend, 

It is always important to learn from the past and then face the future with enthusiasm and passion. We have 

done just that. During this past year, our movement’s 80th year, we have been proud to reflect on what has 

worked well for All We Can, where we can do better and how we can help meet the challenges of some of 

the poorest communities around the world. 

On behalf of the Trustees, I am delighted to present the Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements for 

2018-19 and to highlight the ongoing work of All We Can. 

My fellow trustees and I are privileged to be working with an exceptional Executive Team, now led by 

Graeme Hodge, who took over from Maurice Adams as CEO at the end of 2018. The board and I are 

indebted to Maurice for his exceptional leadership of All We Can and to Graeme and his team for the 

passion which they have successfully emulated. That team has continued to move the organisation forward, 

working collaboratively with many different groups around the world with a common purpose of addressing 

inequality. The results speak for themselves and are brilliantly illustrated in a series of films that are available 

to view on the All We Can website – take a look to see how lives can be changed for the better.

The Trustee Board has grown over the year with two intakes of new trustees. That means that we have four 

very well-supported committees addressing Governance, Finance, Programmes & Partnerships and Public 

Engagement. These committees work closely with the Executive Team so that the board can constructively 

challenge and guide the organisation, support some of the more difficult decisions and offer insight and 

leadership in terms of its growth and direction of travel.

This year’s annual report highlights All We Can’s key achievements and includes some fabulous examples 

of the collaborative and relational approach that our organisation uses. This approach was recognised by 

the charity sector as we were shortlisted for the Civil Society Charity Awards in the grant making and 

funding category. It was encouraging to be recognised for our relational and partner-led approach with local 

organisations around the world.

Our approach of listening to others, identifying needs, and then implementing strong and effective 

capacity-building support, means that we really can make a lasting difference to some of the world’s poorest 

communities. Showing compassion through practical support and providing encouragement to those in 

greatest need means that we can bring John Wesley’s words to life: “Do all the good you can, by all the 

means you can, in all the ways you can, in all the places you can, at all the times you can, to all the people 

you can, as long as ever you can.” After all, that is at the core of All We Can. 

On behalf of the Board of Trustees, I would like to say how proud we are of the work of the organisation, 

our staff and our partners, who continue to raise awareness of the causes of poverty and support ways 

of addressing inequality around the world. But of course, that work cannot take place without the support 

of our donors. We are deeply thankful to them and to everyone who supports our work through action, 

thoughts and prayers. May I conclude this letter with an invitation to review the annual report and share the 

messages it highlights.

Dr Louise Brooke-Smith
Chair of the All We Can Board of Trustees
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Report of the Trustees
We present the annual report and financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 August 2019. The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the notes to the financial statements, and comply with 
the charity’s governing document, the Charities Act 2011 and the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014. 

In shaping our objectives for the year and planning our activities, the trustees have considered the Charity Commission’s guidance 
on public benefit, including the guidance ‘Public Benefit: Running a Charity (PB2)’.

Our approach, strategy and objectives
All We Can works through partnerships with local people, organisations and churches in some of the world’s poorest communities 
to end the cycle of suffering caused by poverty, inequality and injustice.

Organisational goals to 2020
1. To enable local partners to fulfil their mission to improve the quality of life of poor, disadvantaged and marginalised people, 

creating lasting change.

2. To respond effectively to humanitarian emergencies and help local partners to prepare for disasters.

3. To challenge the causes of poverty, inequality and injustice and to promote solutions through global education.

4. To have a prominent and instrumental role across the global Methodist community in international development and 
emergency relief.

5. To inspire and value supporters and donors, and ensure sustainable funding to fulfil our purpose. 

6. To be efficient in the management of All We Can’s resources.

Achievements and performance
This year, All We Can supported 24 local organisations in 7 countries, 
touching the lives of approximately 139,483 children, women and men 
directly through our specific funding support for local partners’ sustainable 
development projects and activities. All We Can’s unique approach, however, 
not only supports partners in implementing projects, but also focuses on 
strengthening the partner organisation itself. This approach is rooted in 
All We Can’s values and mission and is supported by a growing body of 
research, that indicates that strong and resilient local partners will be better 
positioned to continue their missions, long after their partnership with All 
We Can has ended. By engaging in capacity development that supports 
partners – for example in strategic planning, developing their governance 
capacities or enhancing their monitoring and evaluation – we enable them 
to enhance all the work they do, not just the work they do with our project 
funding. Capacity development support for partners has helped our partners 
to attract new donors and diversify their income so they can reach even 
more needy communities. In addition to this, All We Can’s funding support 
is regularly used to leverage new grant agreements and, in some cases, 
subsidise donor grants that are not paid on a full cost recovery basis. Through 
this type of holistic support, All We Can, through its partners, has reached 
an estimated 1,307,421 million children, women and men across our focus 
countries. 

Our partners have worked across a multitude of focus areas, but 100% are supporting their local communities and beneficiaries 
to develop sustainable livelihoods, by supporting activities that enhance food security and help local communities better adapt 
to and mitigate the negative effects of climate change. 

“All We Can is doing a commendable 
job for the poorest of the poor 
communities in different countries. 
It gives priority not only to empower 
the communities but also the partner 
organisations, which is rarely found in 
other donors. Thus, I really appreciate 
All We Can.”

Respondent to All We Can 2018-19 
anonymous partner survey.



6allwecan.org.uk

ANCILLA’S STORY

Ancilla Masabalala is a 70-year-old woman of Mutupani village 
in Ndlalambi 1 ward, Gokwe South district. Ancilla lives with her 
husband and four orphaned grandchildren, aged between 5 and 13 
years.

Her household suffered from food insecurity challenges: often this 
meant they had only enough food for one meal a day, or that they 
had to resort to foraging for less preferred food like wild fruits. She 
did not have money to send her grandchildren to school. It was 
difficult to access clinic services in times of need as she could not 
afford to pay for the medical bills.

In 2016, a village meeting was called by the Village Head. “I told 
myself that I have to attend in case there is help that the Village Head 
wants to give poor people like us”, said Ancilla when asked how she 
heard about All We Can partner, MeDRA. During the meeting, the 
Village Head informed the community that through village ranking at 
a ward meeting conducted by the Ward Councillor, Mutupani village 
was identified as one of the most vulnerable villages in the ward. 
There was no safe drinking water when the organization started 
working in the village. This was coupled with low levels of disposable 
income among the villagers. 

It was highlighted that MeDRA works to improve the livelihoods 
of the poor and marginalised in Zimbabwe. A community selection 
process of the neediest beneficiaries was conducted, and the other 
members of the village selected Ancilla among the 10 targeted. She 

believes she was selected to be a member of the proposed vegetable gardening and marketing group because of her situation and 
the burden she has of looking after orphaned grandchildren.

Ancilla has received Internal Savings And Lending (ISAL) training which she has been practising since 2016 and is a member of 
Mutupani market gardening group which has been operational since 2018. Ancilla said, “The project has been very helpful in meeting 
the daily needs of my family”. The ISAL initiative has supplied Ancilla with much-needed kitchen utensils and other household tools, 
while her shares from the market garden proceeds have helped to pay $120 worth of school fees for her four grandchildren. 
She has also bought maize for consumption from garden proceeds totaling 200kg. Furthermore, using money from the garden 
proceeds, Ancilla bought a goat, which birthed four kids growing the herd size substantially. The family can now eat a nutritionally 
balanced diet. The project has elevated Ancilla’s status in the village and now she can teach young women about personal 
confidence and livelihood development. Ancilla envisions an increase in their garden produce, which will increase her income. She 
intends to build a two-roomed house that will be roofed by zinc sheets.

We will ensure continuous learning through monitoring
and evaluation of our work

“We now understand that monitoring must be guided by set indicators (and) should assess 
the results of our interventions”

Patience Ncube, HEFO Team, Zimbabwe

Continuous learning has continued to be an important focus for All We Can this year. By intentionally seeking to learn, we ensure 
that we are always reflecting and refining our work, and striving to improve the way we support our local partners and their target 
communities. Continuous learning is enabled by regular monitoring and evaluation of our work – not only for us an organisation, 
but also as part of the technical support we provide our valued partners in Africa and Asia. At the All We Can organisational level, 
All We Can staff have participated in 20 organisational learning sessions to share insights and experiences between staff and 
teams within All We Can and to learn from external stakeholders. This has included sessions facilitated by representatives from 
our partners in Malawi and Ethiopia, as well as learning exchanges between other international not-for-profit organisations, to 
share best practices on how to support local partners in ways that enable meaningful, sustainable development. 

Regular monitoring of our work has been carried out through a regular, peer-reviewed partner reporting process and through 
routine face-to-face partnership monitoring visits with our local partners. In total, 13 partner monitoring visits were facilitated 
by relevant Partnership Managers, including monitoring visits to Cameroon (1), Ethiopia (2), Zimbabwe (2), Malawi (2), Uganda (3), 
Sierra Leone (2) and India (1). Additional routine monitoring visits are also carried out monthly by local In-Country Coordinators, 
who provide valuable, regular on-site support to local partners. 
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This year has also marked the beginning of an important period of reflection and learning for All We Can, as we approach the 
end of our five-year strategy in 2020. In order to reflect on the work we have done under our current strategy, All We Can has 
begun the process of evaluating our five-year Programme strategy. The evaluation will investigate what changes the Programme 
has achieved over the last four years, and most importantly, seek to uncover what factors have, and have not, contributed to 
these changes. All We Can recognises that if we truly want to learn, we need to be able to look at ourselves with a critical eye. 
Objectivity can be difficult when you are assessing your own performance, and there are many blind spots. All We Can will 
therefore work with external researchers and evaluation consultants to help us reflect and learn how we can improve the work we 
do in the future. 

This evaluation builds on All We Can’s annual partner feedback process, whereby we gather both anonymous and direct feedback 
from partners to assess how we are performing as a partner, and to help us proactively identify areas where we need to adapt. 

Monitoring and evaluation are also part of the technical support we provide to partners, recognising that this is an important 
component of supporting partners to measure their own performance and learn from their own work. To this end we have trained 
9 partners, and helped all our partners to develop monitoring, evaluation and learning systems. This will enable them to plan 
and map out how they will monitor and learn while they implement their overall organisational strategies. While 94% of partners 
report that All We Can has helped increase MEL-related capacity during the last year, only 40% of our partners are implementing 
all the monitoring and evaluation activities they planned at the beginning of their annual planning cycles. Over the coming year, 
we are excited to understand how we can better support and encourage our partners to make better use of their monitoring and 
evaluation systems, and in doing so, further enhance the work they do. 

We will develop and maintain healthy and active relationships
with local partners who share our vision and values

“All We Can has been of tremendous support to the work of CDVTA in all aspects of 
development. For 15 years All We Can has supported and enabled a walking together 

relationship and excellent funding collaboration that has enhanced the growth of CDVTA 
and its highly valued activities with and for elders in Cameroon, with a big positive impact 

on the lives of target beneficiaries and the organisation. CDVTA remains highly indebted to 
All We Can and will live to cherish all of their 15 years support for ever.”

Francis Njuakom, CDVTA, Cameroon

This year has seen All We Can expand our portfolio of partners in Ethiopia, Uganda and Malawi, where we have solidified 
partnerships with five new partners. This has enabled us to diversify our portfolio of community development interventions. For 
example, we are supporting livelihood programs to improve health, food and income security for smallholder farmers, children and 
women in Uganda. In Malawi, our portfolio has expanded to include work that supports improved literacy, health and nutrition 
among out-of-school adolescents and initiatives that support communities become more resilient to disasters. In Ethiopia, we are 
now supporting a pilot nutrition project for pregnant and lactating women and helping provide access to education for children 
with disabilities. The first phase of these new partnerships has focused on supporting our partners to really think strategically 
about their own mission and design their own strategies in ways that ensure that the work they do best aligns with the challenges 
that their local communities face.

Our partnerships with both new and existing partners are underpinned by our relational approach, whereby we see our partners as 
holistic organisations. When asked to highlight the best aspect of being in partnership with All We Can, 65% of partners said it was 
our relational approach that meant the most to them. 

65% of partners 
referred to 
our ‘relational 

approach’ as one of the best aspects 
of being in partnership with us, using 
the following words most frequently:
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All We Can believes it is important that we continuously support our partners to become self-sustaining organisations, and as we 
approach the end of our partnership journey with each partner, we aim to focus on helping our partners ensure that they are ready 
to graduate from All We Can support. While we have not graduated any partners this year, we have worked closely with partners 
in Cameroon and India, where we will be graduating partnerships over the coming year. This partnership journey is important as it 
enables local organisations to have the capacity to continue their activities without depending on All We Can for their survival. 

All We Can priority countries and partners 2018-191

India Church of North India; Srijan Foundation; READ 

Uganda Methodist Church in Uganda; FABIO; ARD; COFCAWE

Zimbabwe MeDRA; CGCDZ; HEFO; Methodist Church of Zimbabwe; LID Agency; ZUBO Trust

Malawi AGLIT+; CARD; FACE; Eagles

Ethiopia Adheno; AHRRA HPDO; SUNARMA; Alem Birhan

Cameroon NADEV; CDVTA, PCC

Sierra Leone Methodist Church of Sierra Leone

We will focus on strengthening and supporting local partners in
relation to their leadership and organisational development support

All We Can supported three new partners in Uganda and two in Ethiopia to undertake 
comprehensive organisation assessment processes, including the development of strategic 
plans to guide their work. These plans will help focus our partnership over the next few 
years, including what programme activities we will provide funding for and the capacity 
development support we will provide. All our current partners now have strategic plans 
and/or organisational development plans in place.

During the year, we provided a wide range of tailored organisational capacity development 
support, based on priorities identified by the partners themselves. In addition to strategic 
planning and strategic review support for new and existing partners in Uganda, Ethiopia, 
India and Cameroon, our support included: training on governance, leadership and 
financial and human resource management for partner management and board members; 
supporting organisations to purchase essential office equipment; supporting teambuilding 
activities; and supporting partners to develop organisational policies, including 
Safeguarding, Human Resources and Financial Management policies. 

We brought together partners in Zimbabwe, Malawi, Uganda and Ethiopia to learn from 
each other and identify ways they can work together in the future. We continued to 
support our partners’ own resource mobilisation efforts, through assistance with proposal 
development and improving local fundraising or income generation, including through the 
development of social enterprises, and through linking partners with funding opportunities 
and other donors. This will reduce partner dependency on All We Can and make them 
sustainable when they graduate from our support.

Our partners are overwhelmingly positive about All We Can’s approach to supporting 
them to strengthen their leadership and organisations, with 35% mentioning it as one 
of the best aspects of our partnership in a recent survey. Partners rated our support in 
the areas of strategic planning, training opportunities for board members and staff, and 
providing resources for running costs as some of our most important contributions to 
strengthening their organisations. 

Supporting partners to develop their own organisational capacities in these and other 
ways is one of the key components of All We Can’s unique relational approach.

“…Training of Board of 
Trustees has helped the 
Board effectively spearhead 
the organisation” 

Zubo 

“The reviewed Strategic 
Plan document with All We 
Can assistance has given 
HEFO renewed strength 
and direction in all it does” 

HEFO

“A great partnership. The 
only donor supporting 
Organisational 
Development”

LID Agency 

1 Full names can be found in Note 8 to the financial statements
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CASE STUDY, ZIMBABWE

Strengthening learning and leadership across our local partners

All We Can works with five inspiring local organisations 
in Zimbabwe. Although each organisation is unique, our 
five partners have a lot in common in terms of how they 
are working to address the needs of some of Zimbabwe’s 
poorest and most vulnerable people. All five are involved 
in supporting predominately rural communities to develop 
alternative and sustainable livelihoods in the face of a 
changing climate and weakening economy, while four 
are using solar technology to bring life-giving water to 
communities for drinking, household use and irrigation. 

Recognising that each of our partners have extensive 
experience and a lot to learn from one another, in June 
2019 All We Can organised a workshop to bring together 
representatives of each organisation. 

During the two-day workshop, partners had the opportunity to share about their visions and the unique approaches and 
programmes they are using to bring about transformational change. All We Can’s CEO Graeme Hodge led a session on Leadership 
and Non-Profit Sustainability, while Zimbabwe Partnership Manager Stephanie Dalton facilitated discussions on: challenges 
facing NGOs in Zimbabwe and how partner organisations are overcoming these; Safeguarding in the Zimbabwean context; 
and the impact of GDPR on our relationship with partners. By the end of the workshop, participants were eager to organise 
exchange visits to one another to learn more about the unique approaches and achievements of each organisation. Participants 
also gave positive feedback about the event: “I learnt that collaboration and learning are key to leadership”, said the director of one 
organisation, while another said, “as individual organisations and as partners of All We Can, we are better off when we work as a team. 
We have diversity and can share experiences.”

With partners requesting more platforms for partner-to-partner sharing and learning at country level, All We Can is looking 
forward to continuing to bring partners together. 

We will provide relevant and timely support to all church
partners according to Church CAN principles and approach

This year All We Can has continued to support capacity development initiatives with churches in India, Sierra Leone and Uganda. 
In India, the work has focussed on facilitating the Jabalpur Diocese of the Church of North India to undertake a comprehensive 
institutional assessment that identified the church’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats; as well as reviewing the 
church’s structures and how they function. This was followed by the development of a strategy that will help guide the church’s 
activities going forward, including implementing their capacity strengthening priorities.

The Methodist Church in Sierra Leone implemented their first annual plan 
stemming from their 2018-2020 strategy. The focus, among other things, 
included fortifying their financial management policies and procedures. The 
church has developed a financial management manual which will be used 
both by the headquarters (the Connexion) and all the districts. QuickBooks 
was installed in all accounting computers and all relevant staff received 
the necessary training to implement the policies. At the same time, the 
church received support to review their human resource manual, which will 
serve the church as they embark on a widespread process of church re-
organisation and restructuring. Towards their goal of self-sustainability, the 
church developed an asset register to better manage their real estate as an 
enhanced avenue of church income. This process will continue into the next year. The programme also provided support for the 
new bishop to attend a training in institutional management and transformation in Nairobi, Kenya and on-going accompaniment by 
an organisational development expert throughout the change process.

The Methodist Church in Uganda has entered the fourth year of its strategy implementation and continues to undertake capacity 
development activities for the church itself, as well as implementing social action programmes for community members. Social 
action programmes have included the introduction of climate-smart agriculture, livestock pass-on schemes and enterprise 
development programmes for youths. The church continues to grow in its capacity to deliver sustainable development 
programmes in a professional manner, following best practice for community resilience and lasting change.

The Church CAN programme is funded by the Methodist Church in Britain, with All We Can providing staffing and the technical input.

“The development of a 3-year 
strategic plan has created awareness 
among members to increase their 
commitments in supporting the growth 
of the Church” 

Methodist Church in Sierra Leone
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We will provide flexible and appropriate funding for core costs,
capacity development and programme activities

All We Can continues to provide flexible funding for 
partners, allowing them to respond to community priorities. 
This has enabled partners to respond in multiple ways across 
all sectors and target all strata of communities in some of the 
poorest parts in the world. Partners mentioned 16 different 
services/programme types that they provide for their target 
communities, and 12 target beneficiary types. We provide 
funding on a full cost recovery basis and our funding is often 
used by partners as leverage to attract additional funding 
from larger donors. All support provided to partners is based 
on their strategies and missions and this helps us to also fulfil 
our strategic goal of supporting partners to fulfil their (own) 
missions.

“All We can has created hope for us as an 
organisation – especially internally – because initially 
one of our biggest challenges was lack of salaries 
for the staff and this had caused unreliable staff. But 
now as we speak, there is stability in the organisation 
as the staff is motivated because they receive their 
salaries in time.”

Respondent in 2018-19 anonymous partnership survey
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In our 2018/19 anonymous partner survey, 96% of our partners stated that they are either satisfied or highly satisfied with the 
flexibility, timeliness and level of ownership they feel over the funding they received from All We Can. We will continue to strive 
for 100% satisfaction in this area.

We will respond to humanitarian emergencies through our local
partners, international partners and local organisations using a
Disaster Risk Reduction approach

2018/19 has been a busy year for responding to humanitarian emergencies. Below is a summary table outlining all the activities 
for the year. In total, All We Can grants worth £462k were expended through 11 partners to reach 35,334 people in their times of 
crisis globally, through our international and local partners. Some of the activities will span into the next reporting year and in the 
case of refugee support programmes in Jordan and Bangladesh, All We Can has committed to medium-term engagement through 
the Dan Church Aid and the Lutheran World Foundation. We continue to run joint appeals with the Methodist Church in Britain 
wherever possible.

CASE STUDY: CYCLONE IDAI RESPONSE, MALAWI

Mary Nsona is 30 years old. Mary is married with 5 children, all of whom are at 
school, and is a farmer in the Mankhokwe Scheme long-term irrigation project, 
which is being implemented by CARD.

When the heavy rains and flooding caused by Cyclone Idai came to Nsanje District, 
Malawi, the vegetables that Mary had planted were washed away. Thankfully, Mary 
had not planted all the seed she had received, so she waited until the waters had 
receded before planting the remaining cabbage, mustard seeds and lentil seeds. 

The heavy rains and flooding also destroyed one part of her house, washing away 
plates and pots. Mary lost livestock including goats, chickens and ducks. 

With the support of All We Can, through CARD, Mary received an emergency 
food package including maize flour, beans and cooking oil. Mary said that despite 
the challenges they were facing, they were happy that at least they had food on 
the table. 

The support from All We Can relieved Mary from needing to undertake piecework 
to put food on the table. Mary was instead able to attend to her vegetables. 

Mary is now able to sell these vegetables and has replaced the plates that were 
lost during the flooding. The support received brought a sense of peace to Mary’s 
household. 
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Country Emergency 
Type

Partner Response Activities Number of 
Beneficiaries

Response period

Malawi Cyclone Idai CARD Distribution of emergency food package 2992 2 months:
01 April 2019 –
31 May 2019

Malawi Cyclone Idai FACE Distribution of emergency food package and 
educational materials 

1366 2 months:
01 March 2019 –
30 April 2019

Malawi Cyclone Idai AGLIT+ Distribution of emergency shelter material, 
kitchen sets, Water Guard, soap, mosquito nets, 
emergency food package, nutritional supplements, 
pots for cooking

319 3 months:
13 May 2019 – 
12 August 2019

Zimbabwe Cyclone Idai MeDRA Distribution of educational materials and 
classroom furniture

206 3 months:
13 May 2019 –
12 August 2019

Zimbabwe Cholera 
Response

MeDRA Distribution of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene 
(WaSH) emergency relief items

6615 4 months:
Oct 2018 –
Feb 2019

Indonesia Sulawesi 
Earthquake 
and Tsunami

Medair Distribution of emergency shelter kit, kitchen sets 
and blankets, and hygiene kits

1949 5 months: 
1 Oct 2018 –
28 Feb 2019

Indonesia Sulawesi 
Earthquake 
and Tsunami

World 
Renew

Distribution of emergency food package, cash 
for fresh food, kitchen sets, clothing, blankets, 
emergency shelter material, sleeping mats, cooking 
stoves, working tools

3653 4 months 19 days:
10 Oct 2018 –
28 Feb 2019

Indonesia Sunda Strait 
Tsunami

World 
Renew

Distribution of emergency food package, 
emergency shelter kit, kitchen sets, cooking stoves 
and hygiene kits 

5223 3 months:
01 March 2019 -
31 May 2019

Indonesia Sulawesi 
Earthquake 
and Tsunami

World 
Renew

Hygiene training and hygiene kits, construction of 
latrines, construction and rehabilitation of water 
points, mason training, construction of earthquake 
resistant shelters, business recapitalisation, cash 
for work, trauma training for pastors, psychosocial 
support for children; DRR training sessions

2303 18 months: 
01 Apr 2019 –
30 Sept 2020

Indonesia Sulawesi 
Earthquake 
and Tsunami

World 
Renew

Latrine and earthquake resistant shelter 
construction as well as construction and 
rehabilitation of water points 

1338 18 months:
01 Apr 2019 –
30 Sept 2020

Jordan Syria Crisis Lutheran 
Welfare 
Federation

Livelihoods training and provision of marketing 
tools, psychosocial support services course for 
children

240 9 months: 
15 March 2018 –
15 Dec 2018

Jordan Syria Crisis Lutheran 
Welfare 
Federation

Livelihoods training, facilitating linkages with 
potential markets, women and child protection

94 6 months:
01 April 2019 –
01 Oct 2019

Jordan Syria Crisis Lutheran 
Welfare 
Federation

Psychosocial support services classes for children, 
English classes, sewing classes, development of a 
playground for children

1215 7 months:
June 2019 – 
Dec 2019

Bangladesh Rohingya 
Crisis

Woord En 
Daad

Construction of bathing spaces, hygiene sessions, 
construction of pit latrines, construction of 
shelters 

3680 5 months:
01 May 2018 –
30 Sept 2018

Bangladesh Rohingya 
Crisis

ACT 
Alliance/ 
DCA

Protection and psychosocial support through the 
development of safe spaces for women 

1800 24 months:
15 Oct 2017 –
15 Oct 2019

Bangladesh Rohingya 
Crisis

Medair Provision of psychosocial support and nutrition 
services to pregnant and lactating women and 
their children

2351 6 months:
01 Jul 2019 –
31 Dec 2019
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We will create opportunities and resources that will inform and
educate people in British Methodist churches, and beyond, about
the issues and how they can act meaningfully in response

All We Can used its annual church appeals and activities to create resources that educate and inform local churches, schools, 
community groups and individual supporters across the country on development and relief issues, as well as to inspire support. 
This year, in-depth educational materials and church resources were created for our appeals at Harvest, Christmas and 
Lent. Harvest 2018 focused on helping vulnerable communities affected by the extremes of droughts and floods – and the 
consequential destruction of harvests. The ‘Let Your Light Shine’ Harvest 2018 pack featured Malawi – where severe floods 
struck just six months after its launch. We developed and grew the innovative Partner Church scheme through its second year, 
and saw churches following communities in Malawi throughout the year. Churches received regular updates and materials to use 
in their services, to keep their congregations informed on how their support is enabling communities to take steps forward. By the 
end of the year, we had 104 organisations (including churches and schools) signed-up to the Partner Church scheme. 

Our Extraordinary Gifts Christmas appeal included Advent and Christmas worship material that communicated stories of our 
life-changing development work. All We Can’s Lent resources gave individuals engagement for the 40 days, including connecting 
with people in some of the world’s poorest communities who are supported by our work, and being given ways to engage through 
prayer, positive actions and giving. 

All We Can delivered 140 speaking engagements to churches and groups over the year, raising awareness about our relief 
and development work and educating those in attendance on the issues. We also delivered sessions and/or had stalls at larger 
conferences including the Methodist Conference, ECG, Cliff Fest, Navigating Change and the Methodist Women in Britain 
Conference. 

We have continued to use traditional and digital media platforms to communicate the issues of global injustice and poverty. Some 
methods involved were: giving regular radio interviews on Trans Word Radio (TWR), UCB and Premier; producing articles for a 
range of national and international magazines, newspapers and online blogs and journals; and utilising social media, including live 
streaming of our sessions at events. 

Year 2 school children share messages they have written to Malawian children following Harvest
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Plans for the Future
As we begin year five of our five-year strategy, we will be involved in two key strategic processes – looking back and looking 
forward. We will, in the coming year, undertake a comprehensive evaluation of all aspects of our work across the organisation, 
reviewing what has worked well, is yet to be realised and what needs to be changed as we move forward into the next five-year 
strategy to 2025. This important process of evaluation will not only inform our strategy development for the next five years, but 
also provide us with vital evidence of impact, effectiveness and approach. The other process is a collaborative one of looking 
forward to develop an ambitious, effective and comprehensive road map for the days ahead. 

Alongside our strategy evaluation and development, we will continue to work towards achieving more of our current strategy and 
focus on our ongoing priorities: 

 Î to strengthen the capacity of our local NGO and church partners

 Î to increase income and ensure financial sustainability

 Î to enable the communication of our message, approach and achievements to reach wider audiences.

Broadening our horizons, is a key theme for this coming 
year and will inevitably be for the next five years as 
well. As part of the wider Methodist family and the 
official relief and development agency for the Methodist 
Church in Britain, we have the privilege of serving the 
church and providing a vehicle for social action for its 
members and the communities they are a part of. We 
can go deeper still within our family network and this 
remains a key focus for us. But we also need to expand 
to wider networks to reach people who are warm 
to working through a model of genuine partnership 
and collaboration, supporting work which enables 
transformation through sustainable development of local 
people and organisations on a long-term basis beyond 
just doing projects together. 

We will continue to expand our family of partners, 
churches and the countries we work in. Our approach 
remains the same, but the adaptive nature of the support 
we give and the learning, expertise and insight we 
gain and share, will continue to vary according to the 
dynamic and individual differences of the people and 
organisations we work with. Increased funding during this last year means that we are also able to apply this resource to these 
new, expanding and deepening partnerships as well.

Our team is in a very strong position, having recruited some excellent new team members and retained an equally experienced 
and talented team to lead the various aspects of our work. Team and culture will remain critical to the way we do our work 
and the investment of time and energy into this team is a key component to ensuring that our output and impact expands and 
contributes towards the achievement of our vision.

Our broadening horizons are underpinned by a strategic focus, but also by a faith basis, which drives the ethos, values and manner 
in which our work continues. It is our faith basis that motivates our relational approach and sustains our activism, implementation 
and integrity as we progress into the coming year of activity. 

Structure, governance and management
We continue to strive to achieve our vision and mission and have increased our efforts this year to ensure that we are embodying 
our values across all aspects of the organisation. This includes a renewed commitment to emphasise these values at our staff 
gatherings and ensure they become more obvious in the daily operations, management and meetings of All We Can. We have 
a very committed staff team, demonstrated not only by the discretionary extra effort they put into their work, but also by the 
results of it. A key emphasis of management this year has been on staff retention and development and on ensuring that the 
wellbeing of staff is constantly attended to, further reinforcing our values and our drive for greater effectiveness and productivity 
towards our goals. Emphasis and development of organisational culture has also been key, with greater articulation of trust in 
individuals’ ability and contributions, which fosters a greater sense of ownership, responsibility and stewardship of the resources 
we are entrusted with. We have been mindful that we are coming to the end of our strategy, but are also keen to ensure we keep 
striving to achieve more of what we set out to do at the beginning of this strategic period in 2015. Underpinning all of this is a 
robust library of implemented policies, which are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure compliance to new legislation or best 
practice guidelines.

Staff members engage with a delegate at the ECG event in Scarborough, 2019
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We undertook an extensive recruitment campaign to attract new trustees to our board. Through natural attrition, and changing 
personal circumstances, the number of trustees reduced to seven in the latter part of 2018. An extensive search resulted in the 
recruitment of an additional ten trustees, who are of an exceptionally high calibre and experience, covering several key areas of 
governance for the charity. Crucially, this new intake ensures that our four board committees are now able to operate with a larger 
membership and with fresh vigour, objectivity and ideas.

The trustees consider the Board of Trustees, the Chief Executive and the Senior Leadership Team as comprising the key 
management personnel of the charity, in charge of directing and controlling, running and operating the charity on a day-to-day 
basis. All trustees give of their time freely and no trustee remuneration was paid in the year. Details of trustee expenses are 
disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.

Trustees are required to disclose all relevant interests and register them with the Finance Director, and in accordance with the 
charity’s policy, to withdraw from decisions where a conflict of interest arises.

Safeguarding
All We Can continues to ensure that its strong commitment to safeguarding is embodied in its culture and policies. Significant 
progress has been made to ensure that this is also shared and developed within our local partner organisations. As a measure of 
accountability, safeguarding is included in all annual partnership agreements, committing partners, All We Can and our personnel 
to pursue and enact best safeguarding practice and policy at all times. 

Our work with partners is ongoing and involves bespoke support for the variety of partners with whom we work together. 
This work has included policy development and strengthening, facilitating partner-to-partner learning, facilitating safeguarding 
workshops and training and capacity development of board members on safeguarding governance. This continuous work 
is sometimes inhibited by hostile conditions, complex economic and social issues and traditional cultures. However, we are 
committed to ensure that best practice becomes common place across all our partners and to ensure that we, as a UK based office 
and team, continue to refresh and deepen our knowledge in this area. 

All partners are written to annually to proactively encourage them in safeguarding policy and culture and to provide them with 
a clear opportunity to report on any previously unreported incidents involving inappropriate behaviour or actions from any All 
We Can Staff member, within the last year or at any time in the organisation’s history. Partners are also asked to report on any 
safeguarding incidents, previously undisclosed to All We Can in relation to the work we have done together. They are asked if 
any of their own staff have been involved in safeguarding incidents, whether employed by All We Can or not. The next annual 
communication takes place in October 2019. No incidents of All We Can impropriety have been reported and all partners stated 
they had not been aware of or subjected to any incident involving an All We Can staff member. All partners have, through the 
signing of annual partnership agreements, indicated their commitment to safeguarding and their desire to continue to improve 
their own policies and practices, as well as to promote safer cultures within their organisation. We keep a detailed log of the 
progress, training and capacity development work that is done independently by our partners, as well as work done with our 
support and facilitation. This log details any setbacks or delays in progress, the reasons for them and the anticipated action going 
forward.

All staff members have undergone safeguarding training and new staff members have training scheduled to take place within their 
probation period. Training is offered to trustees as well and all new trustees have been offered specific training. Training for new 
trustees will be undertaken in the later part of 2019. Within the new intake of trustees, we have also recruited an individual who is 
a professional safeguarding advisor and trainer. 

As an organisation we are committed to safeguarding all individuals and promoting and enabling a safer culture in all we do. We 
have embedded safeguarding as an agenda in all strategic meetings and regularly promote safer culture and best practice at our 
team gatherings and on our internal intranet.

Staff Remuneration Policy and Performance Management 
All We Can reiterates its commitment to ensuring that it rewards all its staff with a fair and appropriate salary and that this salary 
is on or above living wage. This is to enable us to attract and retain people with the right skills, and therefore have the greatest 
impact in delivering our objectives. All We Can actively invests in the learning and development of its staff, so that they may 
contribute effectively to its mission, and ensures that Staff Performance Reviews actively identify individual and team learning and 
development needs.

Pay Review Process 
a. All We Can staff have their salaries benchmarked annually against comparable organisations, including other charities and faith-

based organisations, using the current Croner Pay Survey Index. All We Can aims to set salaries equivalent to the median for 
such organisations.
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b. The median salary is identified for the same or 
similar positions in organisations across several 
relevant criteria, namely: number of employees, 
annual income, charity sector, and London-based 
personnel (where applicable).

c. All salaries are evaluated and approved by 
the senior leadership team based on the 
responsibility of the post as defined in the job 
description and the successful implementation 
and achievement of annual objectives.

d. The board endorses the overall annual pay 
settlement for all staff during the annual 
Budgeting Planning and Approval process.

We are committed to good stewardship of the 
financial resources entrusted to us by donors to 
use for our charitable purposes and cause and, 
as such, ensure that we are highly professional 
in our recording and efficient in our use of these 
resources. We have a detailed protocol and budget 
for our expenditure, which is reported monthly. 
Importantly, as detailed below, we regularly review the ‘principal risks’ for ourselves and our partners and have put in place a Risk 
Management Framework that is monitored by both the senior leadership team and the trustees.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Because All We Can has chosen to work with local NGO and church partners in some of the most under-served and remote 
places in the world, it needs to be mindful of the associated risks. In addition, due to the nature of its Christian principles and 
Methodist connection, along with its relatively small size, some inherent risks are recognised. We are committed to managing risks 
effectively by identifying mitigation plans that are defined according to the various functions of the organisation. The seven key 
risks are assessed based on their likelihood and potential impact, along with the mitigation strategies in place to manage them. 
The trustees are ultimately responsible for risk management approval, ensuring that it is reviewed tri-annually through the Finance 
and Audit Committee, Programmes and Partnership Committee, Public Engagement Committee and Governance Committee. The 
board approves the Principal Risks Management and Mitigation policy annually (designed to manage rather than eliminate risk), 
with the senior management team ensuring that day-to-day risks are managed through agreed systems and procedures. 

1. Financial sustainability

Risk: For many reasons, the income All We Can receives is at risk. These include vulnerable international, European and UK 
economy, increased competition, change in donor priorities and – given the revelation of certain well-known charities – scepticism 
surrounding international aid and charity management. Our unconventional approach to mainstream development (we are 
committed to breaking the cycle of time-restricted aid and will not be limited to short-term grants, thus allowing us to respond 
effectively) is not always understood by donors or even the traditional international development sector. If our income reduces 
below that which we forecast, it is unlikely we would be able to fulfil our operating plans and would therefore have to reduce the 
scale of our programmes. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î Regular, detailed analysis of income streams and trends 

 Î Fundraising plans seeking to diversify income sources 

 Î Collaborate more intentionally with Methodist Church in Britain and internationally 

 Î Identify local fundraising opportunities for partners 

 Î Champion our approach and provide examples of the success and impact of our work 

 Î Articulate the basis of our Christian principles and faith-based model 

 Î Regularly monitor costs and seek to improve efficiency 

 Î Maintain a Reserves Policy in case of unplanned income reduction 

 Î An external audit in accordance with applicable laws and accounting standards 

 Î Key Performance Indicators to monitor status 

 Î A Finance and Audit Committee of the board to review progress 

Supporters pose after taking part in the ASICS London 10k, to raise money for All 
We Can
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2. Human Resources

Risk: An effective, committed and flexible staff team is crucial for successful implementation of our strategy. We must provide 
valuable and constructive leadership and management of the staff — because if we do not look after their wellbeing, the 
implementation of our strategy could be significantly compromised and our reputation damaged. Key person dependency is a risk 
if there is sole responsibility placed on one member of staff. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î A thorough equal opportunity recruitment process to aid us in selecting candidates who can best help us to deliver our strategic 
aims through internal and external job advertising 

 Î All staff have an employee contract that includes the agreement to our core values 

 Î A documented performance management system for work enhancement and professional development, including promotion 
opportunities where feasible 

 Î The CEO is managed and evaluated by the Board Chair 

 Î Deputising roles and succession planning for staff, with emphasis on key staff 

 Î HR policies and procedures designed to promote employee wellbeing 

 Î Cross-department ‘staff wellbeing group’ and staff feedback sought 

3. Regulatory Compliance

Risk: Financial, legal and reputational damage arising from non-compliance with applicable legislation and regulations. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î We have staff responsible for ensuring compliance with key legal and regulatory requirements including safeguarding, 
whistleblowing and conflict of interest 

 Î The Finance and Audit Committee of the board, with the Finance Director, ensures compliance with legal and accounting 
requirements 

 Î The Public Engagement Committee of the board, with the Head of Fundraising, ensures compliance with regulatory 
requirements and fundraising standards 

 Î The senior leadership team and trustees ensure employment law compliance by utilising an independent, external HR 
organisation that monitors regulatory requirements 

4. Faith

Risk: All We Can is inspired by Christian principles and is integral to the outreach of the British Methodist Church. Our work 
targets the world’s most vulnerable and marginalised people, regardless of faith. Collaborating with the Methodist Church is 
crucial to the sustainability of the charity through its legal status, its donor constituents and the delivery of its strategy. There are, 
however, risks aligned with this stance and approach. There are many unhelpful and unjustified attitudes towards the Christian 
faith, and these could have an impact on All We Can at a professional and funding level. Within the Methodist Church, there are 
competing demands as regards loyalties to relief, development and mission agencies: as a result, our plans to engage churches 
could be hindered. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î The Christian faith underpins our core values. All We Can is grateful for its growing loyal supporter base that shares our core 
values and beliefs. We continue to engage with our supporters, encouraging them to pray, be involved and provide financial 
support 

 Î Because All We Can is the official relief and development agency of the Methodist Church, we continue to strengthen our 
connection and position within the Methodist Church in Britain and worldwide 

 Î An open recruitment policy 

 Î We do not proselytise 

 Î Work with other faiths and with secular organisations that share our values 

 Î Engage churches in relief and development work and help them put their faith into action 



18allwecan.org.uk

5. Working with partners

Risk: Our approach to development and the reduction of poverty is to work through independent, self-governed local NGO and 
church partners that are based in the communities in which they operate. These partnerships are critical to the achievement of 
our goals, but working with others could compromise our plans, funding and reputation. There are risks associated with this — 
especially in the challenging situations in which they function. These can include the misuse of funds, lack of sustainability, lack of 
accountability and inability to deliver effective programmes. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î A thorough scoping exercise to identify suitable partners 

 Î A dedicated Partnership Manager is assigned to each partner, with routine communications and visits 

 Î A capacity development and organisational development process is planned and defined before funding is agreed, to include 
leadership governance controls, HR, finance and monitoring processes 

 Î Regular partner monitoring and organisation audits are conducted 

 Î Identifying local fundraising opportunities for partners to develop self-sufficiency 

 Î A Programmes and Partnerships Committee of the board to review progress 

6. Working internationally

Risk: Travelling to places that are challenging poses risks to our staff, partners and to the ability to operate effectively and safely in 
those locations – thereby potentially affecting the quality of our results. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î A thorough scoping exercise to identify suitable countries to work in 

 Î Routine and regular communication with our partners ensures that we can be aware of changing circumstances 

 Î We will cancel or delay travel plans or implementation of a programme where necessary 

 Î There is a risk assessment and security plan for all international trips 

 Î There is full insurance cover with a critical incident plan in place 

 Î Health needs are identified for all travelling staff 

 Î A Programmes and Partnership Committee of the board to review progress 

 Î An agreement by all local partners to abide by specific protection policies such as safeguarding, whistleblowing and conflict of 
interests 

 Î A joint working team with the Methodist Church for all Methodist partner church assignments 

Supporters from Nottingham South Circuit at their All We Can Partner Circuit Launch Service
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7. Reputational Risk

Risk: Inherent in all the risks above is the risk of the charity’s reputation being damaged and adversely affecting its staff, partners, 
churches, donors, supporters and public. It may be that the risk is linked to perception rather than factual evidence, but the impact 
could be significant nonetheless: income loss, reduced ability to seek diverse funding, damage to relationships with partners, 
services to beneficiaries and staff morale are all possible consequences. The areas where reputation is at risk, in addition to those 
already cited, include staff and partner performance and behaviour, misuse of charitable resources and failure to deliver strategic 
objectives. 

Mitigation in place 

 Î Aligning operational and work plans with approved strategy 

 Î Regular monitoring and measurement of performance and KPIs 

 Î A clear and rigorous HR recruitment process and staff performance procedure 

 Î The thorough vetting and monitoring of partners 

 Î Updating the trustees of all risks on a regular basis 

 Î Compliance by staff and trustees to ensure the implementation of protection polices including safeguarding, whistleblowing and 
conflict of interest 

 Î Compliance with all fundraising, financial and data regulations 

 Î Communication strategy and public engagement sign-off process, including consistency of key messages and a nominated 
spokesperson 

 Î Senior leadership staff on call for emergencies 24 hours a day 

 Î Consistent and clear communication with supporters and beneficiaries 

 Î Ensuring regular contact and briefings to major funders; report fully on projects to meet funders’ terms and conditions 

 Î Ensuring good quality reporting of the charity’s activities and financial situation 

 Î A practical and responsive complaints procedure (both internal and external)
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Administrative Details
All We Can has been the operating name of The Methodist Relief and Development Fund since 8 April 2014, before which it 
was commonly known by its initials, MRDF. The organisation traces its roots back to 1938, when it was founded as a Methodist 
response to the war-induced refugee crisis in Europe. While still closely linked to the Methodist Church, since 1985 it has been a 
separate charity registered with the Charity Commission for England and Wales, constituted by a trust deed. 

The charity is governed by a Board of Trustees, which meets three times each year. The Trustees collectively oversee the work 
of the charity, setting its strategic direction, setting and reviewing policies, agreeing annual plans and resource allocation, and 
monitoring progress through regular reporting by the management team. 

The following board committees are in place, each of which has Terms of Reference: 

 Î The Governance Committee is responsible for keeping under review the governance arrangements of the charity, for trustee 
recruitment and development, and for making recommendations to the board as appropriate, bearing in mind developments in 
charity governance and the needs of the charity. 

 Î The Finance and Audit Committee recommends finance policy to the board and ensures that existing finance policy is 
implemented. This committee also oversees systems, controls and processes that may have an impact on the charity’s ability 
to meet its objectives. It ensures that effective external audit arrangements are in place, that adequate risk analysis and risk 
management processes are functioning and that the charity complies with all aspects of the law, relevant regulations and 
good practice. 

 Î The Programmes and Partnerships Committee defines, develops, guides and monitors All We Can’s strategy, policies and 
practice regarding programmes, implementing partnerships and grant making, ensuring that these are in line with its overall 
purpose and strategy. 

 Î The Public Engagement Committee is responsible for all matters relating to voluntary income generation, marketing 
communications and church and faith-based engagement. It ensures that there is a framework of accountability for examining 
and reviewing all systems and methods and relevant regulation and good practice in relation to public engagement activities. 

Appointments to the board are approved by the Methodist Council on the recommendation of the existing Board, following a 
selection process that involves a skills audit and advertisement for trustees with the appropriate expertise. Appointments are 
normally for a six-year period. 

All new trustees undergo induction to familiarise themselves with the aims and work of the charity, and to ensure they fully 
understand their responsibilities as board members and the organisational expectations in terms of their commitment. As part 
of the induction programme, trustees are provided with constitutional, governance, financial and organisational documentation. 
Trustees also receive regular updates and are made aware of relevant events and training opportunities when they arise.

Charity name: The Methodist Relief and Development Fund 

Known as: All We Can 

Charity registration no: 291691 England and Wales 

Principal office:   25 Marylebone Road, London NW1 5JR, UK 

Website:  www.allwecan.org.uk 

Trustees:  Miss Diola Bijlhout 1 (to 15/01/19)
Mrs Caroline Blower (Treasurer) 1 (to 15/01/19) 
Miss Claire Boxall 3

Ms Christy-Anna Briggs 3 (to 20/09/19)
Dr Louise Brooke-Smith OBE (Chair)
Mr Philip Crosby (Treasurer) 1 (from 31/05/19) 
Miss Ria Delves 1 (to 15/09/18)
Mr Warren Downey 3 (from 08/05/19)
Dr Andrew Dye 2 (to 15/12/18)
Miss Jennifer Evans 2 (from 30/04/19)
Ms Hanna Ferguson 2 (from 08/05/19)
Mr Richard Griffiths 1 (from 08/05/19)
Mrs Carolyn Lawrence 2 (to 15/12/18)
Mr Christopher Lewis 3

Mr Robert Mahoney 4

Mrs Natalie Newton 3 (from 31/05/19)
Revd David Nixon 2 (to 01/10/19)
Mr Geoffrey Park 1 (from 08/05/19)
Revd Dr Stephen Skuce 2 (from 30/04/19)

1 Finance & Audit Committee 
2 Programmes & Partnerships Committee 
3 Public Engagement Committee
4 Governance Committee
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Mr Christopher Sutton 2 (from 30/04/19)
Mr Robert Varley 4 (from 08/05/19) 
Dr Richard Vautrey 4 (Vice Chair)

Senior Leadership: Mr Maurice Adams: Chief Executive (to 13/12/18)
Mr Graeme Hodge: Deputy Chief Executive (to 13/12/18), Chief Executive (from 14/12/18)
Ms Angela Zamaere Smith: Director of Programmes and Partnerships
Mr Stephen Adams: Director of Public Engagement (from 22/07/19) 
Mr David Fletcher: Director of Finance 

Auditor: Haysmacintyre LLP 
10 Queen Street Place, London EC4R 1AG 

Bankers: The Co-operative Bank 
80 Cornhill, London EC3V 3NJ 

HSBC Bank plc 
4-8 Victoria Street, London SW1H 0NJ

Custodian Trustees: Trustees for Methodist Church Purposes 
Central Buildings, Oldham Street, Manchester M1 1JQ 

Investment managers: Central Finance Board of the Methodist Church 
9 Bonhill Street, London EC2A 4PE 

Volunteers
This year All We Can received the support of several hundred volunteers, including 32 new coordinators who joined as the named 
representative for All We Can in their local church, receiving our church engagement materials and coordinating the support of 
their church at a local level. We also received the support of many volunteer speakers. 

All We Can also has a growing cohort of office volunteers – among them one long-serving volunteer now in her 10th year of 
regular, committed, involvement. All We Can is extremely grateful to them and the hundreds of volunteers giving thousands of 
hours of their time to support some of the very poorest communities on earth, through All We Can. All We Can invested in two 
volunteer training days throughout the year, providing additional training and input to attendees in order to further support and 
encourage these volunteer networks. 

Connected Charities
All We Can is an integral part of the wider family of the Methodist Church in Great Britain. Full details of transactions with the 
Methodist Council and other Methodist bodies and any outstanding balances at the year-end are provided under Note 18 to 
the financial statements.

Material Fundraising Performance, Approach and Expenditure 
Against Future Income
Our Fundraising Approach
All We Can undertakes fundraising activity to its supporters via direct mail, email, social media, the All We Can website, church 
appeals, fundraising events, sponsored events, and applications for support from trusts and institutions in line with the Fundraising 
Code of Practice set by the Fundraising Regulator. All We Can does not engage in any street fundraising, door to door campaigns, or 
telephone fundraising activity, following research conducted with our supporters showing they found these methods annoying and 
intrusive. All We Can also does not use third party fundraising agencies and instead conducts all fundraising activity through our staff 
and volunteer networks using the methods outlined above. 

Our Supporter Charter is published on our website purposefully in the section where supporters give (allwecan.org.uk/give/
supporter-charter). This outlines our promises to supporters around the handling of their data, the administration of their gifts, how 
they can contact us to change their contact preferences, and information should they wish to make a complaint about any of our 
fundraising activity. We also signpost supporters to the Fundraising Regulator both online and through our printed materials, should 
they feel that All We Can is not responding to their requests of complaints appropriately in the first instance. 

All We Can received a very small number of complaints (two – down from five the previous year). These did not step into the 
territory of the fundraising regulator – and were simple supporter-care related communications. Both were promptly resolved. This 
complaint level is exceptionally low compared to industry averages and considering the scale of our activities. The nature of the 
complaints did not indicate the need for any change to our practice or procedures within the year. We are committed to operating 
to high standards in our supporter care and fundraising activity, seeking to operate within both the spirit and the letter of regulatory 
guidance and sector standards as they are issued. 
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Our Fundraising Policy continues to meet GDPR compliance. 

Our Fundraising Performance
We are continually grateful for the support of donors which has seen an increase (excluding emergencies) in combined church and 
individual donations of 11.2% compared with last year. We continue to focus on transitioning more churches and individuals to give 
as a response to our proactive engagement through our targeted appeals. Our church appeals have raised a total of £251,803 and 
our individuals’ appeals have raised a total of £155,654. These appeals are important sources of income, particularly churches giving 
to our Harvest Appeal and individuals giving Extraordinary Gifts. We are celebrating a continued growth of the regular giving from 
individuals as a response to our regular giving product ‘All Together’. This year we raised £268,337. We saw the generosity of our 
supporters to communities hit by humanitarian disasters with a total income of £464,582 for our emergency work this year. We ran 
appeals for Indonesia’s Tsunamis, and in response to Cyclone Idai – the deadly tropical cyclone which left more than 1,300 people 
dead and affected more than 3 million. We continued to respond to both the Rohingya Refugee crisis and the Syrian Refugee crisis. 

Our Major Relationships function has had a strong year. Major Donors gave a total of £285,678 which represents an increase of 
£70,434 year on year. We raised a total of £71,750 from Trust and Foundations – representing an increase of more than £15,000 
year on year. Income from corporates totalled £38,650. We have a range of ongoing key funders and supporters for whom we are 
incredibly grateful, including Chiesa Valdese, World Development & Relief Ireland and the Methodist Insurance Fund. 

In a continued effort to diversify our sources of funding, we also look to sources of institutional funding to support our vital work. 
We received £34,940 from the Guernsey Overseas Aid and Development Commission (GOAC) for a food security and sustainable 
livelihood project in the Amhara region in Ethiopia. All We Can is grateful for the support that GOAC has provided over the years. 
This year’s grant will, (i) provide training and seeds for 60 farmers, resulting in 14.7% increase in production: (ii) provide training and 
inputs (beekeeping, fruit and vegetable production and livestock) for 140 people, resulting in increased income and; (iii) provide 
training and 650,000 seedlings to facilitate community-led rehabilitation of 150 hectares of land.

2018/19 was the third year of our current three-year partnership agreement with Chiesa Valdese in Italy, through their Otto per Mille 
grant stream. Under that agreement, All We Can receives 250,000 euros per year for development programming. The grant this 
year (i) supported livelihood and human rights-based projects for widows and the elderly in Cameroon; (ii) introduced climate-smart 
agriculture in Uganda and; (iii) implemented empowerment programmes in India for women and girls. A total of 11,226 women, men, 
girls and boys benefitted from these life improving projectss. All We Can and Chiesa Valdese have been in partnership for six years 
and we are thankful for their on-going support as we negotiate a new partnership agreement. 

Our fundraising expenditure finished the year within our budgeted parameters. Most fundraising expenditure in 2018-19 related 
to our rolling appeals with individuals and churches, building on the year-on-year learning as we seek to develop our resources and 
engage a wider audience. We also invested money in developing our legacy programme, to enable more people to give to us with 
confidence in the future. It is also the first full year in which we have provided regular communications to our regular givers through 
‘All Together’ for individuals, and through the ‘All We Can Partner Church’ initiative for organisations on the scheme, which is an 
investment in retaining and uplifting future income.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
We continue to effectively manage our finances to ensure that we are best placed to deliver the highest quality impact in our 
charitable activities and we are delighted that our total income this year is the highest that the charity has achieved since 2004-
2005, some fourteen years ago. Indeed, our unrestricted donation and grant income is the highest that the charity has ever achieved.

Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA)
The SOFA shows an overall surplus of £538k for the year (2018: £229k deficit). There was a surplus in general reserves over target 
of £178k at 31 August 2018 (see Note 17 of the financial statements), all of which was spent on additional activities during the year 
as planned. However, the release of the designated legacy equalisation fund of £618k, coupled with a large volume of unbudgeted 
legacy income towards the end of the year and a change in reserves policy (see Note 17 of the financial statements) has resulted 
in a surplus of £883k in general reserves at the end of the year. This has enabled us to budget a significant increase in charitable 
expenditure during the forthcoming financial year. We do not anticipate having a surplus in general reserves at the end of 2019-20.

Income
Total income increased by £923k (37%) to £3,408k (2018: £2,486k). All categories of donations and legacies income increased year-on-year.

Unrestricted donations and legacies income, i.e. that which is not donated for a specific country or project, increased by £407k 
(21%) to £2,348k (2018: £1,940k). This is an extraordinary achievement in these challenging times and we are extremely grateful 
for the continued generosity of our supporters.

Restricted donations and legacies income increased by £517k (99%) to £1,041k (2018: £524k). Restricted donations and legacies 
for long-term development projects (including gift aid) increased by 8% to £451k (2018: £416k), while restricted donations for 
humanitarian aid work increased by 447% to £591k (2018: £108k) reflecting the large volume of donations for both the Indonesia 
Earthquake Appeals and the East Africa Cyclone Idai Appeal.
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Within the figures above, grant income increased by £108k (29%) to £487k (2018: £379k). We were extremely pleased to 
continue to receive significant funding of £217k from Tavola Valdese (Union of Methodist and Waldensian Churches) for various 
development projects under the Italian “Otto per Mille” arrangements.

Investment income decreased slightly to £20k (2018: £21k).

Methodist individuals, churches and institutions remain our primary source of regular income, and we are particularly grateful 
to the World Development & Relief Committee of the Methodist Church in Ireland, The Methodist Insurance Fund, The World 
Mission Fund of the Methodist Church in Britain, East Bridgford Methodist Chapel and, for the first time, UMCOR (United 
Methodist Committee on Relief) in the USA for their substantial support this year.

Welcome and significant support was also received from Guernsey Overseas Aid Committee, The Grimmitt Trust, The Joffe 
Charitable Trust, The Maurice & Hilda Laing Charitable Trust and the United Reformed Church.

Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by £148k to £2,880k (2018: £2,732k).

Expenditure on charitable activities increased by 10% to £2,456k (2018: £2,232k). This represents 85.3% of total expenditure 
(2018: 81.7%), which compares favourably with similar organisations.

Of this, the amount spent on development activities increased by £90k (5.9%) to £1,625k (2018: £1,535k), driven by an increase 
of £136k in grants awarded. Expenditure on humanitarian activities increased by £168k (38.5%) to £605k (2018: £437k) reflecting 
the increased level of restricted humanitarian income. Global education costs decreased by £35k (13.3%) to £226k (2018: £260k), 
primarily due to a reduction in staff costs due to a staffing restructure at the beginning of the year.

The cost of raising funds decreased by £76k (15.1%) to £424k (2018: £500k) driven by a reduction of £28k in staff costs, due to 
the staffing restructure. This represents 14.7% of total expenditure (2018: 18.3%), which again compares favourably with similar 
organisations.

Reserves Policy
The board reviews the charity’s reserves policy annually, balancing the need to hold back enough general reserves to protect 
its charitable activities with the objective of maximising the funding available for those activities. These reserves and funds are 
invested in accordance with the charity’s investment policy.

At 31 August 2019, the charity held total funds of £1,763k with balances of £174k of restricted funds and £20k of designated 
funds, leaving a general reserve fund balance of £1,568k. A detailed breakdown and rationale for the individual funds is provided 
in Notes 16 and 17 of the financial statements.

The board has agreed the policy that general reserves should be a minimum of 20% of the following year’s total income budget, 
excluding emergency donations and legacies, plus 50% of the following year’s legacy income budget. The total income budget for 
the year ended 31 August 2020 is £2,745k, of which £80k is emergency donation income and £505k is legacy income, giving a 
minimum general reserves figure of £685k. Therefore, at 31 August 2019, there is a surplus in general reserves over this target of 
£883k, which will be allocated to the charity’s activities over the coming period.

The designated funds represent unrestricted monies that the board has designated for specific purposes, as detailed in Note 17 of 
the financial statements. As at 31 August 2019, these designated funds were fully funded at the levels set by the board.

Investment Policy
The charity’s investment policy is reviewed annually by the Finance and Audit Committee with the objective being to maintain 
high liquidity while ensuring maximum security, meeting the ethical standards of the Methodist Church and achieving a balance of 
capital growth and income.

To achieve this, the investment of medium to long-term reserves is operated via the Central Finance Board (CFB) of the Methodist 
Church. An agreement has been signed with CFB to provide discretionary investment management services and to act as the 
Fund Manager. The CFB is authorised by the board to adjust the actual investments within the agreed parameters specified in the 
investment policy. The CFB continues to work closely with the Methodist Council to ensure that its activities are in line with the 
moral stance and teachings of the Methodist Church.

Following the annual review by the Finance & Audit Committee, the board decided not to change its investment policy to hold:

 Î equities in the range of 60% to 80% of the total invested and currently standing at 72%

 Î fixed interest investments in the range of 20% to 40% and currently standing at 25%

 Î cash in the range of 0% to 10% and currently standing at 3%.

Surplus cash is held in the Deposit Fund of the Central Finance Board of the Methodist Church.
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Grant Making Policy
The Chief Executive, with the Programmes Director, will decide (based on the approved annual strategy, work plan and budget)
the number and level of grants provided to the charity’s partners. A rationale for each grant and resource allocation is available for 
examination by trustees along with the relevant financial and project monitoring and reporting agreement. The Programme and 
Partnerships Committee (PPC) will review and approve any development or humanitarian relief grant proposal identified by staff 
or the committee as high risk or requiring a higher level of governance scrutiny.

The amount that the Chief Executive can authorise without PPC approval on behalf of the board is to a maximum of £100,000 
for each annual development grant and £200,000 for each humanitarian relief grant, subject in all cases to any such expenditure 
being in line with the agreed budget for the year, as amended from time-to-time.

Development Grants
The charity does not implement projects directly but does so indirectly by providing support, capacity building and grants to local 
partners that are recognised non-governmental organisations (NGOs) or Methodist Churches in our priority countries. While 
partners must meet minimum standards in terms of financial controls, reporting capacity and governance standards, the charity 
prioritises support to small and locally managed organisations. The charity provides funding and capacity building to local partners 
to undertake their own advocacy activities. Such activities are included within the partner’s annual operation plans and funded as 
part of development grants. 

Humanitarian relief grants
Grants allocated for humanitarian aid and emergency relief will be provided to existing partners, church-based partners or 
recognised and credible humanitarian relief partner agencies.

These policies are reviewed each year.
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Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities
The trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report and Financial Statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 Î The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial 

year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity, and of the incoming resources and application of 
resources of the charity during that period. In preparing those financial statements, the trustees are required to: 

 Î Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

 Î Observe the methods and principles in the Applicable Charities SORP 

 Î Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

 Î State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures that must be disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements 

 Î Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in 
business. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the 
Applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement as to disclosure to our auditors:

In so far as the trustees are aware at the time of approving our Trustees’ Annual Report: 

 Î There is no relevant information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing their report, of which 
the group’s auditor is unaware, and 

 Î The trustees, having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group’s auditor that they ought to have individually taken, 
have each taken all steps that he/she is obliged to take, as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 

The Report of the Trustees is approved and authorised for issue and signed on their behalf by: 

Robert Mahoney
Trustee
21 November 2019
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustees of The Methodist 
Relief and Development Fund (operating as All We Can)
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Methodist Relief and Development Fund (operating as All We Can) for the year 
ended 31 August 2019 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

 Î give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s affairs as at 31 August 2019 and of the net movement in funds for the year 
then ended;

 Î have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

 Î have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011.

Basis for opinion
We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with the Act and 
relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the charity in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of trustees for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 25, the trustees are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees 
either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

 Î the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

 Î the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Trustees’ 
Report, the Introduction and the Message from the Chair of Trustees. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.



27allwecan.org.uk

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Charities (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 require us to report to you if, in our opinion:

Î adequate accounting records have not been kept by the charity; or

Î sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or

Î the charity financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

Î we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and 
regulations made under section 154 of that Act. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s 
trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity’s trustees as a body for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Haysmacintyre LLP 
Statutory Auditors 

10 Queen Street Place 
London

EC2R 1AG

Haysmacintyre LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006
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All We Can
Statement of Financial Activities 

For the year ended 31 August 2019

Note Unrestricted Restricted 2019 Total Unrestricted Restricted 2018 Total
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income from:

Donations and legacies 2 2,347,562 1,041,262 3,388,824 1,940,369 524,097 2,464,466

Investments 3 19,630 - 19,630 21,224 - 21,224

Total income 2,367,192 1,041,262 3,408,454 1,961,593 524,097 2,485,690

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 4 424,192 - 424,192 499,877 - 499,877

Charitable activities
Development 4 1,186,444 438,971 1,625,415 1,139,293 395,888 1,535,181
Humanitarian 4 221,096 383,409 604,505 266,194 170,423 436,617
Global Education 4 225,784 - 225,784 260,483 - 260,483

Total expenditure on charitable activities 1,633,324 822,380 2,455,704 1,665,970 566,311 2,232,281

Total expenditure 4 2,057,516 822,380 2,879,896 2,165,847 566,311 2,732,158

Net gains/(losses) on investments 13 9,844 - 9,844 17,794 - 17,794

Net income/(expenditure) 319,520 218,882 538,402 (186,460) (42,214) (228,674)

Transfers between funds 16 87,588 (87,588) - 16,523 (16,523) -

Net movement in funds 407,108 131,294 538,402 (169,937) (58,737) (228,674)

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward 1,181,074 43,623 1,224,697 1,351,011 102,360 1,453,371

Total funds carried forward 1,588,182 174,917 1,763,099 1,181,074 43,623 1,224,697
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All We Can
Balance Sheet

As at 31 August 2019

Note Unrestricted Restricted 2019 Total Unrestricted Restricted 2018 Total
£ £ £ £ £ £

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 12 20,253 - 20,253 - - -
Investments 13 626,728 - 626,728 530,890 - 530,890
Total fixed assets 646,981 - 646,981 530,890 - 530,890

Current assets
Debtors 14 418,956 - 418,956 547,602 - 547,602
Cash at bank and in hand 790,913 174,917 965,830 296,913 43,623 340,536
Total current assets 1,209,869 174,917 1,384,786 844,515 43,623 888,138

Liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due 15 (268,668) - (268,668) (194,331) - (194,331)

within one year

Net current assets 941,201 174,917 1,116,118 650,184 43,623 693,807

Total net assets 1,588,182 174,917 1,763,099 1,181,074 43,623 1,224,697

The funds of the charity
Restricted income funds 16 - 174,917 174,917 - 43,623 43,623
Unrestricted funds 17 1,588,182 - 1,588,182 1,181,074 - 1,181,074

Total charity funds 1,588,182 174,917 1,763,099 1,181,074 43,623 1,224,697

The notes on pages 31 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees on 21 November 2019 and signed on their behalf by:

Trustee
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All We Can
Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 August 2019

Note 2019 2018

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Net movement in funds 538,402 (228,674)

(per Statement of Financial Activities)

Adjustments for:

Purchase of intangible fixed assets 12 (21,700) -

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 12 1,447 -

(Gains)/losses on investments 13 (9,844) (17,794)

Income from investments 3 (19,630) (21,224)

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 14 128,646 (211,265)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 15 74,337 (118,761)

Net cash generated by / (used in) operating activities 691,658 (597,718)

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends/interest from investments 3 19,630 21,224

Proceeds from sale of investments 13 54,040 468,395

Proceeds from sale of current asset investments - 150,000

Purchase of investments 13 (140,034) (33,012)

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (66,364) 606,607

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 625,294 8,889

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 340,536 331,647

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 965,830 340,536

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents £ £

Cash in hand 965,830 340,536

Total cash and cash equivalents 965,830 340,536

-                  1,635.00-        
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2018
Note 1 - Accounting policies

a) Scope and basis of the preparation of the financial statements

All We Can (“the charity”) is a public benefit entity for the purposes of FRS 102 and therefore the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their 
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
(‘the SORP’).

The financial statements have been prepared to give a “true and fair” view and have departed from the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent required to provide a “true and fair” view. This departure has involved following 
“Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their financial statements in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)” issued 
on 16 July 2014, rather than “Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice effective from 1 April 
2005”, which has since been withdrawn.

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 requires the trustees to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts in the financial statements. There are no significant 
judgments, estimates or assumptions.

There has been no change to any accounting policies and no transitional adjustments.

b) Preparation of the financial statements on a going concern basis

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the charity is a going concern. A comprehensive review of the 
charity’s financial performance and general reserves position is covered in the financial statements and trustees’ report. Evidently, 
the charity has adequate financial resources and is able to manage the business risks. The planning processes, including financial 
projections, take into consideration the prevailing economic climate and its potential impact on the various sources of income 
and planned expenditure. The trustees have looked at least twelve months ahead and are satisfied that the charity has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the near future and there are no material uncertainties that call into doubt the 
charity’s ability to continue in operation.

c) Recognition of income

All income is accounted for when the charity has entitlement to the funds, the amount can be quantified and receipt of the funds 
is probable. Where income is received in advance of providing services, it is deferred until the charity becomes entitled to that 
income.

All income is reported gross. Any fee charged for fundraising by third parties and deducted from the amount collected before it 
is remitted to the charity is not offset against the fundraised income recognised in the financial statements but is reported as a 
fundraising expense.

No amounts are included in the financial statements for services donated by volunteers.

Donations
Donations are recognised when there is evidence of entitlement, receipt is probable and the amounts can be measured reliably. 
Where a donor has specified certain terms and conditions, the charity evaluates whether these conditions can be met before 
claiming entitlement. In any event, donations or gifts with conditions or terms which are outside of the charity’s stated purposes, 
or which are illegal, are rejected by the charity.

Goods donated for ongoing use by the charity in carrying out its activities are recognised as tangible fixed assets with the 
corresponding gain recognised as income from donations within the SOFA, subject to the capitalisation threshold of £1,000.

Legacies
Entitlement to a legacy is assumed when there is sufficient evidence that a gift has been left to the charity, usually through the 
notification of a will. Receipt of a legacy is deemed probable when there has been a grant of probate and it has been established 
that there are sufficient assets in the estate to pay the legacy and there are no conditions attached to the legacy that are outside 
the control of the charity, or uncertainty around the receipt of this gift. Income from pecuniary legacies is recognised upon 
notification or receipt if earlier.

Where legacies have been notified to the charity or the charity is aware of the granting of probate, and the criteria for income 
recognition have not been met, then the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material.

Grants
Income from grants is recognised when there is evidence of entitlement to the grant, receipt is probable and its amount can be 
measured reliably.

To this end, evidence of entitlement is assumed to exist when the formal offer of funding is communicated in writing to the 
charity. Where there is a performance condition attached to the grant, entitlement is only recognised when the conditions have 
been met.
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d) Recognition of expenditure

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis when an obligation that can be measured or reliably estimated exists at 
the reporting date and it is more than likely than not that payment will be made in settlement. There are two main categories of 
expenditure shown in the Statement of Financial Activities (‘SOFA’); expenditure on raising funds and on charitable activities.

Expenditure on raising funds includes all expenditure incurred to raise income to spend on charitable purposes.

Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs incurred by the charity in undertaking activities that further its charitable 
aims for the benefit of its beneficiaries. This expenditure is further analysed into direct and support costs. Direct costs are those 
specifically related to producing the delivery of an activity or service and are further split between development activities, 
humanitarian activities and global education activities.

Support costs are those which provide indirect support to front-line services – for example financial services, facilities 
management, development and personnel, governance costs and management information services. Support costs not 
attributable to a single activity have been allocated on the basis of the weighted average of staff cost.

Grants to institutions
Grants awarded are provided for in the SOFA in the year in which the grant is formally approved and the offer is communicated to 
the recipient. Grants awarded but not paid are recorded as a liability within the balance sheet. Grants awarded subject to explicit 
conditions being met by the recipient before payments are made are not accrued until such conditions have been met. Such 
commitments are disclosed in the financial statements as contingent liabilities.

Any foreign exchange difference on grants that has arisen throughout the year is written off against grants to institutions cost 
within the SOFA.

e) Fund accounting

Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the trustees in furtherance of the general charitable objectives. 
Designated funds are a portion of the unrestricted funds that have been set aside for a particular purpose by the trustees. 
Restricted funds are donated for a particular purpose, the use of which is restricted for that purpose. The purposes of the main 
restricted and designated funds are set out in the notes to the financial statements.

The costs of raising and administering the restricted funds are charged against the specific fund.

f) Pension costs

Pension arrangements for staff are provided by two separate schemes.

The charity is a participating employer of the Pension and Assurance Scheme for Lay Employees of the Methodist Church 
(PASLEMC). Whilst the scheme is of the defined benefit type, it is a group scheme incorporating nine employers and shares risks 
between these employers, which are under the common control of the Methodist Council, the sponsoring employer. The scheme 
was closed to future accrual with effect from 1 June 2019.

The Schedule of Contributions for the period 1 September 2016 to 31 August 2020 states the policy for charging the cost of the 
plan and for determining the contribution to be paid by the charity. Full details of the scheme can be found in the Consolidated 
Report and Financial Statements of The Methodist Church in Great Britain (charity registration number 1132208).

The charity operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all staff members, including a salary sacrifice arrangement. The 
charity’s contributions are charged as an expense in the pay period to which they relate.

g) Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. All differences are taken to 
the SOFA.

h) Tangible fixed assets

All tangible fixed assets costing more than £1,000 are capitalised and included at cost, including any incidental expenses of 
acquisition and irrecoverable VAT.

i) Depreciation

The depreciation expense is charged or apportioned to the relevant SOFA heading reflecting the asset’s use on a straight-line 
basis as follows:

Computer equipment over 3 years

Furniture and fittings over 5 years

j) Intangible fixed assets and amortisation

Intangible assets are held on the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
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Computer software, including development costs, is capitalised as an intangible asset and amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the expected useful life of five years. Impairment reviews are conducted when events and changes in circumstances indicate that 
an impairment may have occurred. If any asset is found to have a carrying value materially higher than its recoverable amount, it is 
written down accordingly.

k) Investments

Investments are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date and the SOFA shows net investment gains and losses arising from 
revaluation of the investment portfolio and disposals during the year. Investments held in units in the Central Finance Board are 
stated at the board’s published valuations at bid rates.

l) Value Added Tax (VAT)

The charity is not registered for VAT. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the expenditure to which it relates within the SOFA.

m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and cash held on deposit with the Central Finance Board of the Methodist Church and 
the Trustees Investment Fund of the Trustees for Methodist Church Purposes, which has a maturity of less than three months 
from the date of acquisition and are used for working capital purposes. Cash and cash on deposit are cash and cash equivalents 
for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

n) Financial instruments

The charity has basic financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and 
subsequently measured at their settlement value. Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any 
trade discount offered. Creditors are recognised where the charity has a present obligation resulting from a past event that will 
probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be measured or estimated 
reliably. Creditors are normally recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

2. Donations and legacies Unrestricted Restricted 
2019            
Total

Unrestricted Restricted
2018               
Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Donations 1,237,951 516,449 1,754,400 1,144,692 127,805 1,272,497

Grants receivable 70,650 487,432 558,082 22,250 379,031 401,281

Legacies 908,960 - 908,960 663,735 7,376 671,111

Gift Aid 130,001 37,381 167,382 109,692 9,885 119,577

Total Donations and legacies 2,347,562 1,041,262 3,388,824 1,940,369 524,097 2,464,466

3. Investment income Unrestricted Restricted 
2019            
Total

Unrestricted Restricted
2018               
Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Central Finance Board distributions 16,677 - 16,677 19,187 - 19,187

Central Finance Board interest 2,898 - 2,898 417 - 417

Other interest 55 - 55 1,620 - 1,620

Total Investment income 19,630 - 19,630 21,224 - 21,224
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

4a. Analysis of total expenditure 2019 Raising funds Development Humanitarian
Global 

Education

2019               
Total

£ £ £ £ £

Grants to institutions (Note 8) - 899,391 404,183 - 1,303,574

Foreign exchange loss on grants (Note 7) - 23,206 8,173 - 31,379

Partner development - 187,120 3,977 - 191,097

Staff costs (Note 9) 227,665 373,380 126,076 140,445 867,566

Office cost 21,830 309 - 577 22,716

Communications and marketing 101,681 19,310 19,310 39,679 179,980

Finance and professional - - - - 0

Share of support costs (Note 5) 73,016 122,699 42,786 45,083 283,584

Total expenditure 424,192 1,625,415 604,505 225,784 2,879,896

4b. Analysis of total expenditure 2018 Raising funds Development Humanitarian
Global 

Education

2018               
Total

£ £ £ £ £

Grants to institutions (Note 8) - 795,637 189,779 - 985,416

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss on grants (Note 7) - (9,302) 2,996 - (6,306)

Partner development - 253,945 - - 253,945

Staff costs (Note 9) 255,617 385,383 187,381 163,850 992,231

Office cost 17,016 1,552 - 1,125 19,693

Communications and marketing 145,943 8,797 8,797 51,879 215,416

Finance and professional 14,045 - - 1,600 15,645

Share of support costs (Note 5) 67,256 99,169 47,664 42,029 256,118

Total expenditure 499,877 1,535,181 436,617 260,483 2,732,158

5. Analysis of support costs
2019               
Total

2018               
Total

£ £

Rent and service charge 98,020 99,252

IT cost 44,339 44,919

Software amortisation 1,447 -

HR and training 12,742 13,049

Recruitment 27,377 12,184

Printing, postage and stationery 22,982 14,957

Telephone 1,305 1,998

Small capital and equipment maintenance 4,155 4,471

Bank charges and fees 6,237 7,108

Legal and professional fees 12,924 13,195

Subscriptions 3,937 4,648

Insurance 12,894 5,478

Travel and subsistence 7,378 9,089

Other office costs 6,441 5,749

Governance costs (Note 6) 21,406 20,021

Total support costs 283,584 256,118

Support costs are allocated based on the weighted average of staff cost

6. Analysis of governance costs
2019               
Total

2018               
Total

£ £

350 189

2,836 -

13,920 13,560

- 3,496

Trustee training

Trustee recruitment

Audit fees (Note 11)

Legal and professional fees 

Trustee meetings and expenses 4,300 2,776

Total governance costs 21,406 20,021
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

7. Grants payable 2019 2018

£ £

(64,684) (219,385)

(1,303,574) (985,416)

(31,379) 6,306

Grants payable brought forward 
Grants to institutions (Note 8) 
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 
Grant payments 1,181,471 1,133,811

Grants payable carried forward (Note 15) (218,166) (64,684)

8a. Grants to institutions - Development 2019 2018

£ £

Burundi Association Protection des Ressources Naturelles (APRN) - 34,827

Burundi Solidarite Oecuménique pour L'éducation et le Développement Communautaire (SOEDC) - 2,900

Burundi Union Chrétienne pour L'éducation et le Développement des Déshérités (UCEDD) - 32,000

Cameroon Community Development Volunteers for Technical Assistance (CDVTA) 102,000 85,004

Cameroon Nkong Hill Top Common Initiative Group (NADEV) 70,906 70,000

Cameroon Presbyterian Church in Cameroon (PCC) 15,000 -

Ethiopia Adheno Integrated Rural Development Association (Adheno) 44,983 45,124

Ethiopia Alem Birhan Self Help Community Based Development Association (Alem Birhan) 31,993 31,867

Ethiopia Sustainable Natural Resources Management Association (SUNARMA) 45,000 50,000

Ethiopia Addis Hiwot Rehabilitation and Reintegration Association (AHRRA) 15,000 -

Ethiopia Help for People with Disabilities Organisation (HPDO) 15,049 -

Malawi Adolescent Girls Literacy Plus (AGLIT+) 16,176 -

Malawi Churches Action in Relief and Development (CARD) - 42,563

Malawi Foundation for Active Civic Education (FACE) 15,000 -

Sierra Leone Methodist Church of Sierra Leone (MCSL) 19,002 -

Uganda Action for Relief and Development (ARD) 37,000 -

Uganda Concern for Children and Women Empowerment (COFCAWE) 15,000 -

Uganda First African Bicycle Information Organisation (FABIO) 20,000 -

Uganda Methodist Church in Uganda (MCU) 40,000 30,000

Uganda Rural Health Promotion and Poverty Alleviation Initiative (RUHEPAI) - 25,000

Uganda Voluntary Action for Development (VAD) - 15,653

Zimbabwe Centre for Gender and Community Development (CGCDZ) 20,000 6,918

Zimbabwe Health Education Food Security Organisation (HEFO) 30,000 11,819

Zimbabwe Local Initiatives and Development Agency (LID) 60,000 11,800

Zimbabwe Methodist Development & Relief Agency (MeDRA) 67,581 60,000

Zimbabwe Zubo Trust (Zubo) 25,000 7,463

Total Africa 704,690 562,938

India Church in North India (CNI) 27,994 -

India Rural Education Activities for Development (READ) 47,971 40,282

India Srijan Foundation (Srijan) 60,860 54,820

Jordan The Lutheran World Federation (LWF) 57,876 -

Nepal Educational Resource Development Center (ERDCN) - 9,711

Nepal Interdependent Society Surkhet (ISS) - 38,633

Nepal Kopila - 51,360

Nepal Triveni Bikas Samaj (TBS) - 37,893

Total Asia 194,701 232,699

Total Grants to Institutions - Development 899,391 795,637
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

8b. Grants to institutions - Humanitarian 2019 2018

£ £

Ethiopia Alem Birhan Self Help Community Based Development Association (Alem Birhan) - 3,200

Malawi Adolescent Girls Literacy Plus (AGLIT+) 9,473 -

Malawi Churches Action in Relief and Development (CARD) 21,465 -

Malawi Foundation for Active Civic Education (FACE) 6,073 -

Mozambique ACT Alliance (ACT) 10,000 -

South Sudan ACT Alliance (ACT) - 17,495

Zimbabwe Methodist Development & Relief Agency (MeDRA) 10,000 -

Total Africa 57,011 20,695

Haiti ACT Alliance (ACT) - 67,916

Haiti Medair UK - (23,753)

Total Americas 0 44,163

Bangladesh ACT Alliance (ACT) - 20,000

Bangladesh Medair UK 20,200 31,500

Bangladesh Woord en Daad - 31,500

Bangladesh World Renew - 20,000

Indonesia Medair UK 50,000 -

Indonesia World Renew 276,972 -

Jordan The Lutheran World Federation (LWF) - 30,000

Syria ACT Alliance (ACT) - 23,421

Total Asia 347,172 156,421

Total Grants to institutions - Humanitarian 404,183 221,279

Total Grants to institutions 1,303,574 985,416

9. Staff costs 2019 2018

£ £

Salaries 704,731 793,164

National insurance 73,259 83,901

Termination (redundancy) payments - 11,264

Increase/(decrease) in accrued holiday pay 6,354 19,998

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme 8,349 17,167

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme (unrestricted) 34,048 36,830

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme (restricted) 16,880 12,520

Death in service & critical illness cover 17,000 17,387

Temporary staff 6,945 -

Total staff costs 867,566 992,231

The average number of staff employed during the year was 17.4 (2018: 19.7).



38allwecan.org.uk

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

9. Staff costs (continued)

The key management personnel comprise the trustees, the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive (to 13 December 2018), the

Director of Programmes, the Director of Public Engagement (from 22 July 2019) and the Director of Finance. The total employment

benefits including employer pension contributions of the key management personnel were £274,710 (2018: £326,501).

None of the trustees has been paid any remuneration or received any other benefits from any employment with the charity or a

related entity.

The number of employees receiving emoluments, excluding pension contributions, of more than £60,000:

2019 2018

Total emoluments in the range:

£60,000 - £69,999 2 2

£70,000 - £79,999 1 1

In respect of higher paid employees, benefits were paid into a defined contribution scheme for 3 (2018: 3) employees.  Total 

contributions to defined contribution schemes in respect of these employees were £18,578 (2018: £18,330).

Pension arrangements

For the year to 31 August 2019, pension arrangements for staff were provided by two separate schemes.

The charity is a participating employer of the Pension and Assurance Scheme for Lay Employees of the Methodist Church (PASLEMC), 

a defined benefit scheme. Contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities as an expense in the pay period to which 

they relate. The charity's participation in this scheme changed on 30 September 2012 when it was closed to new employees of the 

charity. The scheme was closed to future accrual with effect from 1 June 2019. Full details of the scheme can be found in the 

Consolidated Report and Accounts of The Methodist Church in Great Britain (charity registration number 1132208).

The charity operates a defined contribution scheme for all staff members, including a salary sacrifice arrangement. The charity's 

contributions are charged as an expense in the pay period to which they relate.

Volunteers

Volunteers give time in the UK as speakers, coordinators, office administrators, fundraisers and many other activities. In addition 

there are many other volunteer hours given by the men and women working alongside our partners in the countries where we operate.

The board believes it is not possible to quantify volunteer hours and their value is not recognised in the accounts.

10. Expenses reimbursed to Trustees 2019 2018

£ £

Expenses in connection with travel to board and committee meetings 2,084 1,484

Number of trustees reimbursed 12 7

None of the trustees has been paid any remuneration or received any other benefits from an employment with the charity or a related

entity.

11. Auditor remuneration 2019 2018

£ £

Statutory audit fees 13,920 13,560

Other services - 1,260

Total auditor remuneration 13,920 14,820
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

12. Intangible fixed assets

£

Software

At cost

At 1 September 2018 -

Additions during the year 21,700

Total 21,700

Amortisation

At 1 September 2018 -

Charge for the year 1,447

Total 1,447

Net book value as at 31 August 2019 20,253

Net book value as at 31 August 2018 -

13. Investments

Investments are held in accordance with the charity's investment policy detailed in the Trustees' Report. All investments are held

with the Central Finance Board of the Methodist Church.

2019 2018

£ £

CFB Corporate Bond 99,456 96,320

CFB Managed Equity Fund 465,120 362,221

CFB Gilt Fund 62,152 72,349

Total investments 626,728 530,890

£ £

Fair value at 1 September 530,890 948,479

Additions 140,034 33,012

Disposals (54,040) (468,395)

Net gain on disposals 822 1,484

Net unrealised investment gains 9,022 16,310

Fair value at 31 August 626,728 530,890

£ £

Historic cost 553,403 459,431

Unrealised gains 73,325 71,459

Fair value at 31 August 626,728 530,890

14. Debtors 2019 2018

£ £

Prepayments and accrued income 407,074 539,172

Gift Aid receivable 10,282 5,408

Other debtors 1,600 3,022

Total 418,956 547,602
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 2019 2018

£ £

Trade creditors 11,327 15,452

Methodist Church in Great Britain (Note 18) 5,019 64,524

Grants payable (Note 7) 218,166 64,684

Accrued pension contributions 7,626 5,732

Accruals and deferred income 26,530 43,939

Total 268,668 194,331

16a. Restricted funds 2019
Balance 

01.09.18
Income Expenditure

Fund 
Transfer

Balance 
31.08.19

£ £ £ £ £

Development

Cameroon - 153,883 (153,866) (17) -

Caribbean - 10,000 (2,956) (403) 6,641

Ethiopia - 55,951 (55,620) (331) -

Haiti - 10,000 (1,863) (254) 7,883

India 3,623 129,417 (117,786) (4,436) 10,818

Jordan - 22,501 (20,401) (2,100) -

Lesotho - 3,081 (2,711) (370) -

Malawi - 8,609 374 (1,170) 7,813

Sierra Leone 40,000 0 (30,376) (4,142) 5,482

Uganda - 26,619 (26,619) - -

Zimbabwe - 30,645 (27,147) (3,498) -

43,623 450,706 (438,971) (16,721) 38,637

Humanitarian

Cyclone Idai Appeal - 225,123 (61,828) (27,015) 136,280

Indonesia Tsunamis Appeal - 342,054 (301,008) (41,046) -

Rohingya Refugee Appeal - 23,379 (20,573) (2,806) -

- 590,556 (383,409) (70,867) 136,280

Total restricted funds 43,623 1,041,262 (822,380) (87,588) 174,917

16b. Restricted funds 2018
Balance 

01.09.17
Income Expenditure

Fund 
Transfer

Balance 
31.08.18

£ £ £ £ £

Development

Burundi - 105 (92) (13) -

Cameroon 2,377 142,481 (144,825) (33) -

Ethiopia - 34,777 (34,552) (225) -

India - 87,875 (83,926) (326) 3,623

Malawi 1,710 29,131 (30,235) (606) -

Nepal - 37,025 (36,878) (147) -

Sierra Leone 22,771 45,374 (27,500) (645) 40,000

Uganda - 37,004 (35,715) (1,289) -

Zimbabwe - 2,460 (2,165) (295) -

26,858 416,232 (395,888) (3,579) 43,623

Humanitarian

East Africa Famine Appeal 11,265 11,525 (21,407) (1,383) -

Haiti Hurricane Appeal 42,001 2,731 (44,404) (328) -

Rohingya Refugee Appeal - 77,592 (68,281) (9,311) -

Syrian Refugees Appeal 22,236 16,017 (36,331) (1,922) -

75,502 107,865 (170,423) (12,944) -

Total restricted funds 102,360 524,097 (566,311) (16,523) 43,623
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

16. Restricted funds (continued)

Restricted funds represent donation and legacy income received and disbursed in respect of development and humanitarian relief projects.

The fund transfer represents a fund administration charge of 12% levied on all restricted donations.  This is to cover costs incurred in raising 

and administering the restricted fund. This charge does not apply to restricted grants. 

17a. Unrestricted funds 2019
Balance 

01.09.18
Income Expenditure

Investment 
gain

Transfers
Balance 

31.08.19

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds

Legacy equalisation 618,416 - - - (618,416) -

Fixed assets fund - - - - 20,253 20,253

618,416 - - - (598,163) 20,253

General funds

General reserves 562,658 2,367,192 (2,057,516) 9,844 685,751 1,567,929

Total unrestricted funds 1,181,074 2,367,192 (2,057,516) 9,844 87,588 1,588,182

17b. Unrestricted funds 2018
Balance 

01.09.17
Income Expenditure

Investment 
gain

Transfers
Balance 

31.08.18

£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds

Pension shortfall 368,000 - - - (368,000) -

Legacy equalisation 454,681 163,735 - - - 618,416

822,681 163,735 - - (368,000) 618,416

General funds

General reserves 528,330 1,797,858 (2,165,847) 17,794 384,523 562,658

Total unrestricted funds 1,351,011 1,961,593 (2,165,847) 17,794 16,523 1,181,074

Designated legacy equalisation fund

This fund had been set up for use in future years in order to better protect the charity's activities from future variations in legacy income, which 

is impossible to predict with any certainty. During the year, and following the change in reserves policy,  the trustees decided to close this fund 

and to transfer the balance to General Reserves.

Designated fixed assets fund

During the year, the trustees decided to set up this fund to represent the unamortised carrying value of unrestricted fund fixed assets.  The 

balance was transferred from General Reserves.

General reserves

General reserves are those unrestricted funds in hand, over and above those set aside for designated purposes. The trustees amended the 

reserves policy during the year, which now states that general reserves should be a minimum of 20% of the following year's income budget, 

excluding emergency donations and legacies, plus 50% of the following year's legacy income budget.  The total income budget for the year 

ended 31 August 2020 is £2,745,000, of which £80,000 is emergency donation income and £505,000 is legacy income, giving a minimum 

general reserves figure of £684,500. The general reserves at 31 August 2019 of £1,567,929 reflect a surplus of £883,429 (2018: £177,613), 

which will be allocated to the charity's activities over the coming period.

18. Related parties and ultimate parent undertaking

The charity is controlled by The Methodist Church in Great Britain (MCB) and the accounts are included in the consolidated accounts of MCB.  

MCB has the charity number 1132208 and its principal purpose is to respond to the gospel of God's love in Christ and to live out its discipleship 

in worship and mission.  It exercises its control by appointing the trustees of the charity.  The MCB Consolidated Report and Accounts can be 

obtained from The Methodist Church in Great Britain, 25 Marylebone Road, London NW1 5JR, United Kingdom.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2019 (continued)

18. Related parties and ultimate parent undertaking (continued)

During the year the charity:

Received restricted grant income of £82,286 (2018: £49,000) from MCB; and

Received donations from trustees of £1,260 (2018: £1,581); and

Made payments to MCB in respect of (a) serviced office and other costs incurred by MCB on behalf of the charity of £147,521

(2018: £153,244); and (b) reimbursement for the charity's staff costs of £776,955 (2018: £876,030). The balance due to MCB at 

31 August 2019 was £5,019 (2018: £64,524).


